UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

### NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

# NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

DATA	SHEET
------	-------

MM 1 11 197

FOR NPS USE ONLY

RECEIVED

SEE II	NSTRUCTIONS IN <i>HOW T</i> TYPE ALL ENTRIES (	O COMPLETE NATIONAL COMPLETE APPLICABLE		3
NAME	- 6			
HISTORIC	• • • .			:
AND/OR COMMON		***************************************	····	
Wells River (	raded School			
LOCATION				
STREET & NUMBER				
Main Street,	U.S. Route 5		NOT FOR PUBLICATION	
CITY, TOWN	Nauhumr	VICINITY OF	CONGRESSIONAL DISTR	IICT
Wells River, state	-Mempar A	CODE	COUNTY	CODE O17
Vermont		50	Orange Orange	OTI
CLASSIFIC	ATION	•		<i>,</i>
CATEGORY	OWNERSHIP	STATUS	PRES	ENT USE
DISTRICT	PUBLIC	OCCUPIED	AGRICULTURE	MUSEUM
XBUILDING(S)	XPRIVATE	X_UNOCCUPIED	COMMERCIAL	PARK
STRUCTURE	ВОТН	WORK IN PROGRESS	EDUCATIONAL	PRIVATE RESIDENCE
SITE	PUBLIC ACQUISITION	ACCESSIBLE	ENTERTAINMENT	RELIGIOUS
OBJECT	IN PROCESS	YES: RESTRICTED	GOVERNMENT	SCIENTIFIC
	BEING CONSIDERED	YES: UNRESTRICTED	INDUSTRIAL MILITARY	TRANSPORTATION X_OTHER: None
OWNER OF	PROPERTY			
NAME Eugene and He	arold Puffer			
STREET & NUMBER				
CITY, TOWN			STATE	***************************************
Randolph		VICINITY OF	Vermont	;
LOCATION	OF LEGAL DESCR	IPTION		
COURTHOUSE,				
REGISTRY OF DEEDS, E	office of the To	wn Clerk of Newbury	**	
STREET & NUMBER				
CITY, TOWN		ord order	STATE	
Newbury			Vermont	3
REPRESEN	TATION IN EXIST	ING SURVEYS		<u>. 9</u> 7
TITLE			•	
Vermont Hist	oric Sites and Struc	tures Survey		
1976		FEDERAL _XST/	ATECOUNTYLOCAL	,
DEPOSITORY FOR	ermont Division for	Historic Preservatio	on .	. •
CITY, TOWN	CIMOITO DIVIDIONI TOI	TITE OUT TO TI COCT AMOTO	STATE	
Montrelier			Varmont	_



#### CONDITION

**CHECK ONE** 

**CHECK ONE** 

XEXCELLENT \_\_GOOD

\_\_DETERIORATED

XUNALTERED \_\_ALTERED

X ORIGINAL SITE

\_\_FAIR

\_\_UNEXPOSED

\_\_\_RUINS

\_\_MOVED DATE\_\_\_\_

### DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Located in the village of Wells River on the east side of U.S. Route 5 approximately one-quarter of a mile south of the intersection of U.S. Route 5 and Vermont Route 302, the former Wells River Graded School is set approximately one hundred and fifteen feet back from the road on the brow of a small marshy ravine. The level grade in front of the school, presently used as a parking lot, drops away to the rear of the building exposing the rear half of the basement story. The grade continues to drop away behind the school into the marshy ravine which abuts directly on the west embankment of the main tracks of the Boston and Maine Railroad.

The school is a rectangular, one-story building with a full basement story and a full attic story behind a mansard roof. The building measures approximately 62 by 48 feet across the east and west, and the north and south elevations respectively and is oriented toward the road, U.S. Route 5, with its west (front) elevation facing the road. A one-story, mansard-roofed pavilion measuring approximately  $10\frac{1}{2}$  feet across and supporting a pyramid-roofed cupola projecting approximately  $10\frac{1}{2}$  feet from the center of the west (front) elevation.

The exterior walls of the building, including the basement walls and the foundation, are of brick load bearing construction laid in common American bond. The roof is of wood frame construction covered with slate on the mansard and a composite roofing material on the shallow, double hip roof above the mansard. The walls of the first story are visually separated from the basement by a rock-faced, granite water table with margined edges. While the brick construction of the basement story is left exposed on the north, east, and south elevations, on the west (front) elevation the brick is faced with margin-edged, rock-faced granite laid in a regular ashlar pattern. The granite facing returns the northwest and southwest corners of the building in the form of staggered quoins.

The outside corners of the building are detailed with justified brick quoins which visually support a continuous brick frieze. Between the quoins the frieze is supported by a row of individual brick corbels. All of the architectural detailing on the roof is constructed out of wood. The dentilated mansard roof cornice overhangs the walls approximately  $1\frac{1}{2}$  feet and is supported by series of roof brackets constructed out of built-up components. The brackets are paired on the inside and outside corners of the building and beneath the outside edges of the dormers but occur individually beneath the outside edges of the chimney stacks. A continuous architrave molding connects the bottoms of the brackets and visually defines the bottom of the brick frieze which is not covered but is allowed to read through.

A second roof cornice marks the break between the mansard and the hip roof directly above. The frieze board on this cornice and the corner boards on the mansard are decorated with applied edge moldings and circles.

The slate roofing on the mansard is grey in color with two decorative bands in red through the center. The lower band is cut in an imbricated pattern and the upper band in a diamond pattern.

Continued on Continuation Sheet 7-1

### UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

# NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

FOR NPS	USE OF	VLY				
RECEIVED		3.0	1G777			
HECEIVEL	<b>)</b> 30033	* 7	inee we	? 200 ts.		
DATE EN	TERED			RP :	3 19	76

**CONTINUATION SHEET** 

ITEM NUMBER 7 PAGE 1

The mansard is punctuated on each elevation by a series of dormers. Each dormer, whether with an individual window or with a pair of windows, has a gable roof with an enclosed pediment and a dentilated cornice. The pedimented gable on the dormer with paired windows is narrower than the width of the dormer and has extended, flattened ends. Each window opening is framed by a stilted flat arch with round corners supported by pilasters in a stylized Tuscan Order. Identical pilasters flank the sides of each dormer and support a frieze scroll beneath the dentilated cornice which steps out and around to accommodate the scroll. The bottoms of these side pilasters are visually supported by stylized buttresses.

The front (west) elevation of the school is 5 bays across with the projecting pavilion occupying the center bay. An entrance with double doors and a transom light is located on either side of the pavilion. The entrances are protected by a raised, wood frame, mansard-roofed porch supported by one square column and two matching pilasters, each mounted on a pedestal with a stylized cushion capital supporting a fluted block. Each porch is reached by a closed flight of four steps and has a solid wainscot railing of beaded tongue-and-groove. A gable-roofed canopy supported by iron pipes projects out from each entrance porch over the steps. The canopies are later additions of undocumented date.

Between each entrance and the outside corner of the building is a single window. A close-set pair of narrow windows is located in the front elevation of the pavilion. All of the lintels on this elevation are flat-arched and are constructed out of radiating granite voussoirs. The impost blocks are smooth-faced and extend up and out on an angle to double as voussoirs while the bottoms step down and in on an angle along the side of the window opening. The voussoirs directly over the window opening are rock-faced with margined edges and are flat across the top except for those above the pavilion windows which are segmentally arched.

The window sills on this elevation are smooth-faced granite supported on corbeled granite blocks. The brick is recessed in the form of a double panel beneath each window opening. A smooth-faced granite date plaque bearing the raised inscription, "Erected 1874", is located above the paired windows on the pavilion.

The mansard roof on the front (west) elevation is punctuated by a single dormer window on either side of the pavilion and by a dormer with paired windows on the front elevation of the pavilion. The mansard on the pavilion maintains a continuous cornice line with the cornice on the main block of the building but projects approximately  $1\frac{1}{2}$  feet above the height of the mansard on the main block. To visually accommodate the increased height, the pavilion dormer is mounted on a pedimented gable which breaks the line of the cymatium.

Continued on Continuation Sheet 7-2

## UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

# FOR NPS USE ONLY RECEIVED MAY 1 0 1976 SEP 3 1976

# NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

**CONTINUATION SHEET** 

**ITEM NUMBER** 

PAGE

2

The mansard on the pavilion is surmounted by a slate-covered gable roof which is fenced off behind decorative cast and wrought iron fretwork. The ridge of the gable runs north and south and is decorated with a scroll-sawn ridge board. The gable roof supports the round-arched, paneled base of a square, open cupola with a slate-covered

supports the round-arched, paneled base of a square, open cupola with a slate-covered pyramid roof. The roof is mounted on stilted flat arches with round corners supported by four square columns with capitals in a stylized Corinthian Order. A blind gablet projects from each face of the roof.

The slate roofing on both the gable and the pyramid roofs is grey in color with decorative bands in red cut in imbricated and diamond patterns. In the imbricated band directly below the gablets on the pyramid roof the red color is limited to two circles on each face.

The north and south (side) elevations are mirror images of each other. Each elevation is four bays across, the three windows nearest the east (rear) elevation being closely grouped. On the basement story, a window is located directly underneath each window on the first story, except for an entrance with a single door and a transom light which takes the place of the window on the south elevation nearest the east (rear) elevation.

The granite water table forms the lintels of the basement windows. The sills of the basement windows and the lintels of the first floor windows are rock-faced granite with margined edges. The sills of the first floor windows are smooth-faced granite supported on corbeled granite blocks.

A single dormer window is located directly above the single window on each elevation nearest the west (front) elevation. A dormer with paired windows is centered above the group of three close-set windows on each elevation. A decoratively paneled and banded brick chimney stack with a corbeled cap and a stamped tin ventilator breaks through the slope of the mansard between the dormers. A second brick chimney stack of later date, also with a stamped tin ventilator, is located the dormer with the paired windows and the east (rear) corner.

The east (rear) elevation is four bays across with a single dormer located directly above each window on the first floor and a decoratively paneled and banded brick chimney stack with a corbeled cap located between the center dormers. The architectural detailing is identical to that on the north and south (side) elevations.

Continued on Continuation Sheet 7-3

Form No. 10-300a (Rev. 10-74)

## UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

# NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

FOR NPS USE OF			
RECEIVED MAY	1 0 1978		
DATE ENTERED		SEP	3 1976

**CONTINUATION SHEET** 

**ITEM NUMBER** 

PAGE 3

In plan, the first floor of the school consists of one large, almost square classroom in both the northeast and southeast corners. A separate stair hall with an open well, double flight stair is located in front of each classroom in the northwest and southwest corners. The entrances on the west (front) elevation open directly into these halls.

The wainscoting and the stair railing are narrow, beaded tongue-and-groove. The ceilings in the classrooms are covered in decorative stamped tin and are supported in the center by one square wood column similar in design to those supporting the entrance porches. The doors throughout the building are paneled with applied moldings. All of the windows, except for those on the basement story of the north and south elevations, are 4/4 double hung sash. A late nineteenth century spring-activated closer is attached to the right hand door of the entrance on the west elevation to the south of the projecting pavilion.

### 8 SIGNIFICANCE

PERIOD	AF	REAS OF SIGNIFICANCE CH	ECK AND JUSTIFY BELOW	•
PREHISTORIC	ARCHEOLOGY-PREHISTORIC	COMMUNITY PLANNING	LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE	RELIGION
1400-1499	ARCHEOLOGY-HISTORIC	CONSERVATION	LAW	SCIENCE
1500-1599	AGRICULTURE	ECONOMICS	LITERATURE	SCULPTURE
1600-1699	XARCHITECTURE	EDUCATION	MILITARY	SOCIAL/HUMANITARIAN
1700-1799	ART	ENGINEERING	MUSIC	THEATER
<u>X</u> 1800-1899	COMMERCE	EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT	PHILOSOPHY	TRANSPORTATION
1900-	COMMUNICATIONS	INDUSTRY	POLITICS/GOVERNMENTOTHER (SPECIFY)	
		INVENTION	the second of the second of the	
SPECIFIC DAT	ES 1874	BUILDER/ARCH	HITECT unknown	

### STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The former Wells River Graded School is significant as an outstanding example of French Second Empire style architecture. Architecturally, the school is one of the best examples of the style extant in the State of Vermont and is one of two prominent public landmarks within the village of Wells River.

The school was erected in 1874 and cost \$15,000. The granite for the building was quarried and cut by Douglas Robins on his land on Blue Mountain, Ryegate, Vermont.

The names of the architect and the builder are not documented. Stylistically, however, there is a likely possibility that the architect was Lambert Packard, locally renowned architect working out of St. Johnsbury, Vermont. (For a preview of Lambert Packard's work, refer to the National Register nominations for the St. Johnsbury Main Street Historic District and for the Bradford Village Historic District.)

The school has recently been purchased by Eugene and Harold Puffer of Randolph, Vermont, and it is scheduled for adaptive reuse as a radio facility and a possible community activities center. National Register status will be instrumental in implementing the complete restoration and preservation of the building.

### 9 MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES

Material collected by Lillias Warren and located in the Baldwin Memorial Library, Wells River, Newbury, Vermont. Material roviewed in a personal interview with Lillias Warren on 9 April 1976.

10 GEOGRAPHICAL DATA  ACREAGE OF NOMINATED PROPERTY less than 1 acre  UTM REFERENCES
A 1 8 7 3 6 2 7 5 4 8 9 2 7 5 0 B
VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
LIST ALL STATES AND COUNTIES FOR PROPERTIES OVERLAPPING STATE OR COUNTY BOUNDARIES
STATE CODE COUNTY CODE
STATE CODE COUNTY CODE
THE EVALUATED SIGNIFICANCE OF THIS PROPERTY WITHIN THE STATE IS:
NATIONAL STATE X LOCAL
As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89-665). I hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the National Park Service.  FEDERAL REPRESENTATIVE SIGNATURE  TITLE Director; State Historic Preservation Officer  DATE 4/28/76  FOR NPS USE ONLY  I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS PROPERTY'S INCLUDED IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER
DIRECTOR OFFICE OF ARCHEOLOGY AND HISTORIC PRESERVATION  DATE  7/3/7/6
ATTEST: Kihit B. Kettia, / DATE 9/2/76
Acting